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tHe ZHAikMunAi grOuP is an independent oil and gas 
enterprise operating principally in northwestern kazakhstan 
engaged in exploration for, and the production and sale of, 
crude oil and gas condensate.

AdvAncing infrAstructure
in 2008 Zhaikmunai made good progress on several large infrastructure  
projects. the 120km oil pipeline from the field to the city of uralsk, for  
transportation of oil and condensate, was finalized. the railway terminal 
was also finalized. Both the pipeline and the terminal were put into  
operation in January of 2009. 
the gas treatment unit ground works were started at the field site while the 
unit’s modules were being manufactured in dubai and the united states.



financial 
Highlights

• revenue up 25 per cent to 

us$135.9 million (2007: us$108.5 

million)

• Operating profit down 9 per cent 

to us$46.8 million (2007: us$51.7 

million), due to introduction of Oil 

export duty 

• net income up 78 per cent to 

us$63.5 million (2007: us$36.3 

million)

• Average realised oil price 

of us$82.53.06/bbl (2007: 

us$58.71/bbl)

key  
developments

• completion of the rail terminal 

near the city of uralsk 

• completion of the 120km oil pipe-

line from the chinarevskoye field 

to the rail terminal

• Award of production license for oil 

and gas condensate for over 80% 

of the license area valid through 

2032

• extension of exploration license 

over remainder of the license area 

until May 2011 

Operational  
Highlights

• Average daily production for the 

year up to 5,095 barrels per day 

(2007: 4,823 barrels per day)

• 2P reserves increased from  

397 million boe in 2007 to  

534 million boe in 2008

• successful execution of the 2008 

drilling program (drilling 9 wells)
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Highlights since end of 2008

• Zhaikmunai raised us$300 million in additional financing on september 15 2009 

through the sale of new common units (the “Placing”)  in the form of global depositary 

receipts (“gdrs”). the proceeds of the Placing will supplement the group’s existing credit 

facilities and fund in part the capital expenditure programme for the chinarevskoye field, 

in particular, the completion of the gas treatment unit. in connection with the Placing, 

the Partnership issued 75 million new common units in the form of gdrs to placees 

procured by ing Bank, Mirabaud securities, renaissance capital and firstenergy capital 

corp. At the same time Zhaikmunai’s senior debt facility with BnP Paribas was amended 

and restated.

• Production volumes for the first quarter of 2009 increased to 683,883 bbls, up from 

459,810 bbls in the equivalent period in the previous year. As at 1 June 2009, average 

daily production for 2009 is at 7,500 barrels per day.    

• in relation to the work programme, in March 2009 the central committee of field develop-

ment (Zkr) approved the plan of development for oil accumulations in the chinarevskoye 

field and the plan for pilot production from the gas condensate accumulations in the 

chinarevskoye field.  
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MessAge frOM 
tHe cHAirMAn

“In 2008 Zhaikmunai made significant progress in many of its infrastruc-

ture projects, and obtained encouraging results from its drilling program-

me, notwithstanding the global financial and economic crisis. Completion 

of our pipeline and rail terminal represents a key milestone in the com-

pany’s transportation infrastructure. The considerable increase in reserves 

along with an extended exploration permit has further enhanced the attrac-

tiveness of our exploration and development efforts in the Chinarevskoye 

field. The board continues to support the expanding management team, 

world-class local and international contractors, and combined global team 

of over 1,000 people in the advancement the field’s development. 

The significant drop in oil prices from its peak of 146 USD/bbl in July to a 

low of 36.6 USD/bbl in December caused Zhaikmunai to breach certain of 

its loan covenants resulting in financial restructuring negotiations with 

our lenders starting in December. I am very proud that the efforts of the 

management team during these at times difficult circumstances have 

led to a successful 300 million USD capital increase, through a placing of 

London Stock Exchange-listed GDRs, completed on September 15th 2009. 

This placing has resulted in the signing of an amendment to the facility 

agreement with our lenders, thereby resolving and/or waiving all defaults 

which occurred in 2008.

I want to take this opportunity to express my personal gratitude to all our 

shareholders who have supported the Partnership during these difficult 

times.” 

frank Monstrey, Chairman

frAnk MOnstrey, cHAirMAn     





9

We made significant progress in the second half 

of 2008 with the completion of three important 

infrastructure projects: the expanded oil treat-

ment unit, the oil pipeline to uralsk and the oil 

loading rail terminal. Market conditions and lo-

wer oil prices led us to defer all non- essential 

capital expenditure, although we still expect to 

maintain planned expenditure on our gas treat-

ment unit (‘gtu’). Production and revenues were 

affected in the latter stages of 2008 after the in-

troduction of export duties on crude sales. Howe-

ver, we are pleased to report that our operations 

returned to planned production and export levels 

following the abolition of the duties in January 

2009. Although Zhaikmunai’s gtu construction 

had previously been fully funded, in early 2009 

we identified a need to obtain additional funding 

in order to complete this project. this change was 

attributable to: (1) the fact that the final us$100 

million of the company’s us$550 million facility 

led by BnP Paribas was not underwritten, and gi-

ven adverse market conditions, was not syndica-

ted, (2) delays by the company’s ePc contractor 

kazstroyservice in completing the company’s 

gtu, and (3) the significant decrease in the oil 

prices beginning in the second half of 2008. As 

a result Zhaikmunai raised us$300 million in 

additional equity  financing in september 2009  

in order to fully fund its gtu construction and 

other required capital expenditure. 

in order to obtain additional short and medium 

term liquidity, the company entered into an 

agreement with kazstroyservice, its contractor 

for the gtu, for the deferral  of approximately  

us$73 million in payments under the constructi-

on contract until september 2009. construction 

of the gtu is ongoing.

cHief executive’s 
revieW

“2008 was a very good year at an operational level with the increase in 

reported reserves, higher daily production volumes, the completion of some 

significant construction projects and successful execution of the drilling 

programme. As a result of debt syndication difficulties, turmoil in the credit 

markets and the decline in oil prices, we anticipate a significant delay in 

completion of our Gas Treatment Unit. These points together have impacted 

our funding position. However, I am pleased to report that we have succes-

sfully resolved this issue by obtaining US$300 million in additional equity 

funding in September 2009, along with refinancing our debt facility.”

kai-uwe kessel, Chief Executive
kAi-uWe kesseL, ceO





60.4
58.9 20.8

155.7 167.4
57.3

275.9
206.0

75.5

Oil
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GROSS RESERVES UNITS PROVEN PROBABLE 2P POSSIBLE 3P

Oil/Condensate mmbbl	 60.4 155.7	 216.1	 275.9	 290.6
Gas mmboe	 58.9 176.4	 235.3	 206.0	 441.3
LPG mmbbl	 20.8 57.3	 78.1	 74.5	 354.0

Total mmboe 140.1 389.4 529.5 556.3 1,085.8
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Overview

Zhaikmunai’s	 operational	 facilities	 are	 located	

in	Chinarevskoye	Field	 in	 the	province	of	Batys	

Kazakhstan	in	north-western	Kazakhstan.

They	 include	 an	 oil	 processing	 facility	 capable	

of	processing	400,000	tons	per	year	of	crude	oil,	

multiple	oil	gathering	and	 transportation	 lines,	

a	 gas	 powered	 electricity	 generation	 system,	

major	 warehouse	 facilities	 for	 the	 storage	 of	

oil,	materials,	machinery	and	chemicals	used	in	

crude	oil	production,	an	employee	fi	eld	camp	for	

180	people	as	well	as	14	existing	wells	and	4	ex-

ploration	wells	currently	under	drilling	and	test	

operations	throughout	the	Chinarevskoye	Field.

Geology

The	 Field	 is	 a	 multi-formation	 structure.	 It	 has	

tested	hydrocarbons	at	signifi	cant	rates	from:

•		the	Lower	Permian	horizons	(at	approximately	

2,700m	to	2,900m);

•		Lower	Carboniferous	Tournasian	horizons	(at	

approximately	4,200m);

•		Devonian	Givetian	horizons	(at	approximately	

5,000m);

•		Devonian	Biski	and	Afoninisky	formations	(at	

approximately	5,000m).

	

OPERATIONAL	
REVIEW

VYACHESLAV	DRUZHININ,	GENERAL	DIRECTOR
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RESERVES

Extract from the 2008 Ryder Scott Reserve Audit:

At your request, we have prepared an estimate of the reserves, future production and income attributable to 

the terms of the production sharing agreement between the republic of kazahkstan and Zhaikmunai LLP As 

of January 1, 2009. the subject properties are located in the republic of kazahkstan. the income data were 

estimated using Zhaikmunai LP corporate price policy

As a result of both economic and political forces, there is significant uncertainty regarding the forecasting of 

future hydrocarbon prices. the recoverable reserves and the income attributable thereto have a direct rela-

tionship to the hydrocarbon prices actually received; therefore, volumes of reserves actually recovered and 

amounts of income actually received may differ significantly from the estimated quantities presented in this 

report. the results of this study are summarized below.

Zhaikmunai LP

estimated future reserves and income Attributable to the terms of the Production   

sharing Agreement Between the republic of kazahkstan and Zhaikmunia LLP

Zhaikmunai LP corporate Price Policy, As of January 1, 2009

us dollars  PROVEd

 dEVELOPEd 

  Producing non-Producing undeveloped total Proved

Net Remaining Reserves    

  Oil/condensate – Barrels 14,049,671 11,467,660 28,983,646 54,500,977

  Plant Products – Barrels 2,193,506 5,812,495 10,588,888 18,594,889

  gas – MMcf 23,529 99,757 157,018 280,304

 

Income Data $M  

  future gross revenue $894,522 $1,048,545 $2,335,050 $4,278,117

  deductions 450,731 463,985 1,092,799 2,007,515

  future net income (fni) $443,791 $584,560 $1,242,251 $2,270,602

    

discounted fni @ 10% $240,850 $326,395 $578,793 $1,146,038

PRObabLE

  non-Producing undeveloped total Proved 

Net Remaining Reserves   

  Oil/condensate – Barrels  33,146,933 104,381,089 137,528,022

  Plant Products – Barrels  1,607,570 49,124,61 50,732,183

  gas – MMcf  17,245 813,769 831,014

   

Income Data $M    

  future gross revenue  $1,970,828 $9,307,761 $11,278,589

  deductions  821,308 4,210,594 5,031,902

  future net income (fni)  $1,149,520 $5,097,167 $6,246,687

    

  discounted fni @ 10%  $415,419 $1,907,982 $2,323,400

Independent petroleum consultant  

Ryder Scott has audited the Zhaik-

munai reserves as at January 1, 2009. 

The table below provides for a sum-

mary of the audited gross reserves:
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us dollars  PROVEd + PRObabLE

 dEVELOPEd  

 Producing non-Producing undeveloped total Pv+PB 

Net Remaining Reserves    

  Oil/condensate – Barrels 14,049,671 44,614,593 133,364,735 192,028,999

  Plant Products – Barrels 2,193,506 7,420,065 59,713,501 69,327,072

  gas – MMcf 23,529 117,002 970,787 1,111,318

Income Data $M    

  future gross revenue $894,552 $3,019,373 $11,642,810 $15,556,706

  deductions 450,731 1,285,294 5,303,393 7,039,416

  future net income (fni) $443,791 $1,734,079 $6,339,417 $8,517,290

   

discounted fni @ 10% $240,850 $741,814 $2,486,774 $3,469,438

Liquid hydrocarbons are expressed in standard 42 gallon barrels. All gas volumes are sales gas expressed in millions of cubic 

feet (MMcf) at the official temperature and pressure bases of the areas in which the gas reserves are located.

the following tables present the total gross reserves before the terms of the PsA expected from the chinarevskoye field from 

January 1, 2009 through the end of the License term.

chinarevskoye field estimated gross reserves As of January 1, 2009

us dollars  PROVEd

 Producing non-Producing undeveloped total Pv+PB

    

  Oil/condensate – Barrels 15,402,291 12,640,985 32,383,029 60,426,305

  Plant Products – Barrels 2,430,910 6,442,985 11,876,256 20,750,151

  gas – MMcf (after shrink) 26,076 110,647 175,927 312,650

  PRObabLE

 Producing non-Producing undeveloped total Pv+PB

    

  Oil/condensate – Barrels 0 37,462,628 118,206,765 155,669,393

  Plant Products – Barrels 0 1,816,539 55,555,825 57,372,364

  gas – MMcf (after shrink) 0 19,486 919,788 939,274

  PROVEd + PRObabLE

 Producing non-Producing undeveloped total Pv+PB

    

  Oil/condensate – Barrels 15,402,291 50,103,613 150,589,794 216,095,698

  Plant Products – Barrels 2,430,910 8,259,524 67,432,081 78,122,515

  gas – MMcf (after shrink) 26,076 130,133 1,095,715 1,251,924
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dRILLING 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

number of exploration wells drilled 3 4 2 1 1

number of production wells drilled 6 5 1 0 0

Total wells 9 9 3 1 1
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drilling

during 2008 Zhaikmunai employed four heavy 

drilling rigs and two work-over rigs. two heavy dril-

ling rigs were operated by saipem and two heavy 

drilling rigs were operated by ungg. the work-over 

rigs were operated by tPic.

A total of nine wells were completed in 2008, com-

prised of three exploration wells (27, 33, 115) and 

six production wells (51, 52, 57, 61, 62, 121).

in 2009 Zhaikmunai continues to employ four rigs 

(two for drilling and two for work-over). it is plan-

ned to finish four vertical production wells as well 

as various horizontal sidetracks in the devonian 

gas condensate reservoir. two wells have already 

been completed to date (63 and 65.)

Construction

Major construction projects have been completed, 

including: the oil pipeline, the oil storage and loa-

ding facility, and the rail terminal near the city of 

uralsk. the starting point of the pipeline is the Oil 

treatment unit at field site and the ending point is 

the new rail terminal near uralsk. At the terminal 

there are two (5000m3 each) storage tanks for oil. 

two additional storage tanks, of 5000m3 each, for 

condensate are planned to be constructed in 2010. 

the loading terminal allows for 30 railcars to be 

loaded simultaneously. the facility is equipped 

with a vapor recovery unit, which is a first in ka-

zakhstan. Zhaikmunai’s largest on-going project 

is the gas treament unit (gtu). the gtu will treat  

the associated gas presently produced from the oil 

reservoirs as well as the production from the gas-

condensate reservoirs. these two input streams 

are processed in two process trains resulting in 4 

output streams: (1) sales gas, (2) condensate, (3) 

LPg and (4) sulfur.  the plant has a capacity to pro-

cess 1.4 billion cubic meters of gas per annum.

the single largest contractor working for Zhaikmu-

nai is kazstroyservice. 

Ongoing construction projects are:

• gas pipeline (from the field to the intergas central 

Asia gas pipeline); 

• gas treatment unit (phase: train 1 and train 2); 

• reservoir pressure maintenance system;

• 90-apartment residential building in the city of 

uralsk.
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Transportation  

the company expects to start selling the additio-

nal products from the gtu starting in 2010. gas 

will be transported by pipeline from the field to 

the connection point with the Orenburg-novops-

kov gas pipeline (17km). LPg will be transported 

by truck from the storage facility at field site to a 

LPg loading terminal near uralsk where it will be 

transported onward by railcar. condensate, like 

oil, will be transported by the company’s 120km 

oil pipeline from the field site to the rail terminal 

where it is stored and subsequently transported 

onward by railcar. 

 Production 

due to the expansion of the oil treatment unit, 

production capacity by year-end 2008  increased 

to approximately 8,500 barrels per day. 

in January, 2009 the oil pipeline from the chi-

neravskoye field to the city of uralsk came into 

operation, ending the need to truck oil from the 

field to the rail terminal. this has improved safe-

ty and efficiency and has reduced trucking costs 

and road maintenance expenditure.

PROdUCTION 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

total crude oil production (‘000 bbl) 1,749.1 1,719.2 1,065.2 826.8 288.0

Average crude oil production (bpd) 5,095 4,823 2,900 2,300 2,400



Sales and Marketing

Oil sales

Zhaikmunai’s sales are made pursuant to annual 

tenders. An annual off-take contract is awarded 

to the trading company offering the most favou-

rable terms and conditions to the company. un-

der the terms of its PsA, Zhaikmunai is permitted 

to export 85% of its production. the company 

delivers all of its crude oil fcA uralsk, the price 

being based on the market price for Brent crude 

oil less a discount for rail fees, transportation 

costs, quality differentials and trader fees incur-

red in order to deliver the crude oil from uralsk to 

its current ultimate destination at a refinery in 

finland. the table below shows the netback figu-

res over the past five years.

Other products

towards the end of 2008 the company expanded 

its sales and marketing department by hiring ex-

perienced traders for condensate, gas and LPg. 

the team is working towards negotiating new 

off-take contracts and identifying transporta-

tion options for the new products to be ready by 

the time the gtu nears completion.

The marketing team

due to the continuous increase in production of 

crude oil, and the projected start of production 

of stabilized condensate and LPg, the company 

has expanded its logistics team. the logistics 

team will optimize the logistics of all the Zhaik-

munai products, looking at options ranging from 

in-house and outsourcing solutions. 

the team has been evaluating road transporta-

tion alternatives for LPg (from field to uralsk), 

and rail transportation alternatives for crude 

oil, stabilized condensate and LPg (from uralsk 

to the different export destinations). Preparati-

ons are also being made for continuous and safe 

transshipment of the LPg from road tanker to 

rail from the moment production begins until 

the company’s LPg terminal is in operation, and 

beyond. different producers of road tank cars 

as well as all the major rail tank car producers 

have been contacted, and the team is evaluating 

the feasibility of acquiring a fleet of trucks and 

rail cars for LPg transportation as an alternative 

to outsourcing this activity.

 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Weighted average Brent crude price (us$/bbl) 98.11 72.43 67.83 51.26 37.60

Weighted average discount to Brent (us$/bbl)  15.58  13.72 12.43 12.40 11.10

Average netback for crude oil sales (us$/bbl) 82.53 58.71 55.40 38.86 26.50 
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Village Relocation

Rozhkovo Village History

Many people settled in the village as a result of  

the all-country recruitment to develop the “vir-

gin Land” (tselina). At that time, in the 1950’s,  

rozhkovo was a prosperous village with rich 

cultural base made from the combination of the 

cultural values of the natives and the immigrant 

volunteers that arrived from russia, ukraine and 

Belorussia. the demise of the ussr resulted in 

the abolition of collective farming, and stocks 

were distributed among former farm members. 

this resulted in emigration to russia where the 

economic situation at that time was better than 

in kazakhstan and a partial disintegration of the 

community. despite those events, approximately 

300 inhabitants continued to live in the village, 

with limited infrastructure. since the company 

started operations in chinarevskoye, it has been 

active in improving the village’s infrastructure 

through providing an uninterrupted power sup-

ply, purified community well water, access to a 

wireless telecommunications network, and sup-

plies for the village school.

Rozhkovo Resettlement Summary

Pursuant to a  decision of the republic of kazakh-

stan’s Ministry of Health regarding sanitation & 

epidemiology in 2006, a sanitary protection zone 

(sPZ) was established, providing boundaries for 

the chinarovskoye field extending from 1,000m 

to 3,700m beyond the field borders, depending 

upon the wind direction. 

As rozhkovo village was located in the area of 

industrial sites within the sPZ boundaries, in ac-

cordance with rok legislation, Zhaikmunai and 

Zelenovsky district Management, with the par-

ticipation of the villagers, took the decision to 

relocate the rozhkovo villagers at the cost of the 

company. 

the company’s relocation committee held se-

veral public meetings with local residents where 

different relocation options were proposed, 

including relocation to the closest village, es-

tablishment of a new village, and relocation to 

the administrative center. in the end, the local 

residents expressed their preference to move to 

uralsk. 

HeALtH, sAfety  
And envirOnMent



Item  Status

1. vapour recovery unit at Oil terminal completed

2. soil re-cultivation of land after construction of pipelines completed

3. Liquidation of drilling pits  completed

4. re-cultivation of land after drilling continuous

5. flora/fauna – planting of trees around camp completed

6. environ mental training – upgrade environmental specialist continuous

7. environmental seminars for personnel continuous

an Environmental audit of Zhaikmunai Facilities to inspect environmental compliance was undertaken  
by MEP in March 2009. This included an inspection of all work activities and stated that only two  
violations were found: Mixing hazardous waste with domestic waste; and burning domestic waste.

there were no penalties/fines associated with these violations.
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Resettlement action Plan

the company engaged caspiecology, a kazakh-

stan-based environmental and resettlement ad-

visory firm, as an external advisor to develop a 

resettlement action plan which was finalized in 

July 2009.  this plan, developed in consultation 

with the village residents, adhering to kazakh 

law and based on the resettlement guidelines of 

the european Bank for reconstruction and deve-

lopment (eBrd), will ensure that the company 

meets its goal of maintaining high international 

standards and social responsibility.  Most fa-

milies will relocate to an apartment building in 

uralsk that the company recently constructed, 

while other families will relocate to other housing 

arrangements.

Environmental and Social action Plan

the company has a number of written environ-

mental, Health and safety (eHs) policies inclu-

ding a Health and safety (H&s) plan, an environ-

mental Plan and Action Plans for both H&s and 

environment.

in 2008 Zhaikmunai developed ‘the Procedure of 

supervision at Hazardous industrial facilities of 

Zhaikmunai LLP’. this procedure includes details 

of interrelated Hse, socioeconomic and organi-

zational measures aimed at establishing safe 

and healthy working conditions and establishes 

standard requirements for work management in 

the sphere of Hse. this procedure was developed 

based on existing legislative acts and interdiscipli-

nary and industry standards in the sphere of Hse.

Zhaikmunai has developed an environmental Ac-

tion Plan which is valid until 2010 and has been 

aproved by the department of regulation and 

Permits of Western kazakhstan. this Action Plan 

identifies all environmental actions and impro-

vements to be undertaken in the next two years, 

many of which have already been completed or 

are underway. these are listed in the table below.

in establishing and practicing its Hse procedures the company bases itself on national and international 
general and industry specific regulations, standards and guidance:
- environmental code of the republic of kazakhstan;
- general environmental, Health and safety guidelines as published by the ifc; 
- environmental Health and safety guidelines for Onshore Oil and gas development as published by the ifc;
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Environmental and Social action Plan (ESaP) 2009

1. Publication of Annual environmental, Health & safety report / sustainability report.

2. Move all monitoring of cctv cameras and security systems at the Otu to a central location.

3. construction of a secure perimeter fence at al Zhaikmunai operational facilities at 

 the chinarevskoye field.

4. construction of a robust method of secondary containment at the cold storage warehouse  

 such as a 6-12” concrete lip/bund around the warehouse perimeter.

5. Provision of lockable containers for oxygen canisters.

6. storage of demulsifying agent in adequate storage facility.

7. Purchase of secure and covered storage skips for domestic waste.

8. completion of a radioactive waste survey and employee radiation exposure monitoring.

9. Purchase of dedicated storage containers for hazardous waste.

10. Maintenance of a spill register.

11. Maintain H&s register of near misses.

12. establishment of a grievance procedure for employees.

13. undertake a survey of all transformer fluids in order to develop a PcB inventory.

14. undertake a survey of all A/c units in order to develop an Ods inventory.
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Emission Reduction

through eBrd the company is exploring the po-

tential sale of emission reduction units (eru’s) 

to the eBrd/eiB Multilateral carbon credit fund. 

While the company has not yet been assigned  

carbon credits, it will be reducing its natural gas 

flaring activities. this should give rise to signi-

ficant eru proceeds, therefore likely qualifying 

the company for carbon credits. A project to de-

termine the company’s next steps in receiving 

emission reduction units has begun.

Employees

the table below sets out the number of people 

(full-time equivalents) employed by the group as 

of 31 december for the years indicated:

LOCaTION 2008 2007 2006 2005   

Chinarevskoye Field, Kazakhstan 396 329 310 160

Uralsk, Kazakhstan 142 120 120 90

Total  538  429 430 250
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financially there have been several milestone 

events during 2008. the company was listed on 

the London stock exchange and by raising us$100 

million of equity, it fulfilled the last condition pre-

cedent for it to be able to draw on the debt facility 

underwritten by BnP Paribas, natixis, HsH nord-

bank and Bank turan Alem. 

Income statement

the year was characterised by large fluctuations 

in oil prices. revenues from oil sales for the full 

year 2008 were us$135.9 million, up 25% com-

pared to the full year 2007 (2007: us$108.5 mil-

lion). sales volumes for the full year 2008 were 

1,749,066 bbls, up 2% from 1,719,153 bbls for the 

full year 2007.

the cost of sales rose 19% to us$44.6 million 

(2007: us$37.4 million), lagging the increase in re-

venue.

general and administrative expenses were up 

62% at us$20.3 million (2007: us$12.5 million). 

the company incurred increased costs for profes-

sional services and management amongst others 

to fulfill it’s obligations as a listed entity on the 

London stock exchange. the company also incur-

red increased training costs which are directly re-

lated to the higher capital expenditures in 2008 

vis-a-vis 2007. 

selling and oil transportation expenses rose to 

us$24.2 million (2007: us$6.8 million), due to 

us$15.1 million export duty charges. the export 

duty was abolished in January 2009 and the com-

pany is no longer subject to any such duty or ex-

traction tax. excluding export duty, selling and oil 

transportation expenses rose 34% as shown in 

the table below.

the gain on the hedging contract stems from the 

fair market value of the company’s hedging po-

sition as per 31 december 2008. the company 

hedges a portion of its oil production with a floor 

of us$70.00/bbl. the gain on the hedge position 

is directly related to the average closing price 

of Brent for the month of december being a low 

us$43.15/bbl.

eBitdA was up 99 per cent to us$77.6 million 

(2007: us$39.0 million) due to the effective hed-

ging policy.

net income was up 78% to us$63.5 million (2007: 

us$36.3 million). 

finAnciAL 
revieW

us$, MiLLiOn 2008 2007 INCREaSE

Selling and oil transportation expenses 24.2 6.8 256%

Export duty  15.1 0 -

Selling and oil transportation expenses excl. export duty 9.1 6.8 34%

JAn-ru MuLLer , grOuP cfO 
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 us$1,000 2008 2007

OiL And gAs PrOPerties  

 Working assets 167,725 98,691

 construction in Progress 338,361 184,124

Total oil and gas properties 506,086 282,815

nOn OiL And gAs PrOPerties  

 Buildings 2,707 2,387

 Machinery & equipment 1,645 2,209

 vehicles 1,539 1,015

 Others 1,514 1,107

Total non oil and gas properties 7,405 6,718

 Total  513,491 289,533

balance sheet

Non-Current assets

non-current Assets are at us$651 million (2007: 

us$360 million). Out of non-current Assets, Pro-

perty, Plant and equipment amount to us$513 

million (2007: us$289 million). A breakdown of 

Property, plant and equipment (net of accumula-

ted depreciation) is shown in the table below. 

Advances for equipment and construction works 

at us$75.4 million (2007: us$70.4 million)  large-

ly consist of the payments to kazstroy service in 

relation to the gtu construction.

the hedge contract that was signed in March 

2008 provided the company with partial pro-

tection for oil prices lower than us$70/bbl. the 

average closing price for Brent in december 2008 

was us$43.147/bbl. At the balance sheet date the 

hedge position had thus accumulated a conside-

rable value of us$69.2 million (2007:us$0).

Current assets and liabilities

At the balance sheet date Zhaikmunai was in 

breach of certain provisions, including financial 

covenants, of its existing facility agreement.  As 

a consequence, the bank debt at year-end was 

presented as short- term debt in the year-end 

financial statements. However, as of the date 

of this report such breaches have been waived 

or cured so that the bank debt can be classified 

again as long-term debt.

A process to secure additional funding for the 

company from a number of potential finance 

providers was concluded in september 2009 with 

a successful us$300 million equity placing.  Any 

then-outstanding breaches under the facility 

Agreement were cured or waived at that time. 

exclusive of the bank debt, the level of current lia-

bilities at end-2008 was at us$71.6 million, 16% 

below previous year position (2007: us$89.1 mil-

lion).
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Cash flow statement

cash flow from operating activities marginally 

increased to us$48.5 million up from us$48.2 

million in 2007. 

cash flow from investing activities at us$195.8 

million was another historic high for the com-

pany, up 13% from us$173.1 million in 2007.

cash flow from financing activities was up 34% 

at us$173.0 million from us$129.2 million in 

2007. net proceeds from the equity offering in 

April at us$92.0 million and net proceeds from 

borrowings at us$116.6 million have financed the 

investment program (2007: us$147.5 million).

 

Changes in equity

in April of 2008 Zhaikmunai L.P.‘s gdrs were 

successfully listed on the London stock exchan-

ge Main Board. 

10 million common units, 9.09% of the total 

number of common units, became publicly 

traded at year-end 2008. the net proceeds of the 

listing were utilised for financing Zhaikmunai’s 

capex programme.

Subsequent events
• raised us$300 million in additional financing 

needed through a placing of 75 million gdrs.
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CONSOLIdaTEd INCOME STaTEMENT (1)

     

us$1,000 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

     

sales of crude oil  135.912   108.490   58.565   32.393   23.198 

cost of sales  -44.610   -37.401   -26.080   -15.974   -8.937 

gross Profit  91.302   71.089   32.485   16.419   14.261 

Profit before income tax  98.666   51.980   19.944   9.374   11.669 

income tax expense  -35.188   -15.650   -6.973   -3.465   -4.038 

Net Income  63.478   37.773   12.971   5.909   7.631 

     

CONSOLIdaTEd baLaNCE SHEET (1)

     

us$1,000     

Assets 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

     

non-current Assets  651.799   360.008   150.081   64.375   47.821 

current Assets  71.105   34.343   17.213   7.753   4.844 

tOtAL Assets  722.904   394.351   167.294   72.128   52.665 

     

eQuity And LiABiLities 

equity and Liabilities  221.667   68.240   28.192   14.522   9.728 

non-current Liabilities 66.681   237.789   118.974   47.330   31.683 

current Liabilities 434.556   88.322   20.128   10.276   11.254 

tOtAL eQuity And LiABiLities  722.904   394.351   167.294   72.128   52.665 

     

CONSOLIdaTEd CaSH FLOWS (1)

     

us$1,000 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

net cash flow from operating activities  45.819   48.239   37.425   20.701   18.169 

net cash flow used in investing activities  -195.196   -173.105   -92.851   -24.477   -12.158 

net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities  175.109   129.166   54.840   6.065   -6.616 

(1) 2008 is the first year whereby the group presents it’s accounts on a consolidated basis.  

 

share related key figures 

Weighted average number of common units  110.000.000 

Proposed dividend per common unit, usd 0

5 YEaR SUMMaRY
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the Board of directors (“the Board”) of Zhaikmu-

nai group Limited, the general Partner of Zhaik-

munai LP, has established a corporate governan-

ce code. in determining its corporate governance 

code, the general Partner has given considera-

tion to the best practice provisions on corporate 

governance set out in the combined code1.

the general Partner has also put in place proce-

dures to comply with the internal control aspects 

of its corporate governance code. the Board has 

put in place sufficient controls to allow it to ensu-

re that the partnership is able to comply with its 

ongoing obligations under the Listing rules and 

the disclosure and transparency rules.

in addition, the general Partner adopted, with ef-

fect from Admission, a dealing code for the mem-

bers of the Board, any persons discharging mana-

gerial responsibilities and any relevant employees 

which is based upon the Model code set out in the 

Listing rules to ensure that such persons do not 

deal in the gdrs when in possession of inside in-

formation or during close periods in accordance 

with the disclosure and transparency rules.  

THE bOaRd OF dIRECTORS

FRaNK MONSTREY
ExECUTIVE dIRECTOR 
& CHaIRMaN

KaI-UWE KESSEL
ExECUTIVE dIRECTOR

EIKE VON dER LINdEN
NON ExECUTIVE 
dIRECTOR

STEVE MCGOWaN
NON ExECUTIVE 
dIRECTOR

PIET EVERaERT
NON ExECUTIVE 
dIRECTOR

Board member        remuneration of the Board of directors

Frank Monstrey 2007  1965 Belgian 90,9% no no 0  0 0

Kai-Uwe Kessel 2007  1963 german 0 no yes 0    0

Eike von der Linden 2007  1942 german 0 yes yes 100.000 0 0 100.000

Steve McGowan 2007  1966 english 0 yes yes 100.000 0 0 100.000

Piet Everaert 2007  1962 Belgian 0 yes yes 100.000   100.000

           300.000

 

ElEctEd Position Born natio-
nality

sharE-
holding

indEPEndEnt 
of thE 

comPany 
and its 

managEmEnt

indEPEndEnt 
of thE 

comPany’s 
major sha-
rEholdErs

Board of 
dirEctors 
fEE (Usd)  

aUdit 
committEE 
fEE (Usd)  

rEmUnE-
ration 

committEE 
fEE (Usd) 

total 
(Usd)

Mr Monstrey and Mr Kessel receive no separate compensation, in addition to the fees under their services agreements, for being on the Board.

The members of the Audit Committee receive no separate compensation, in addition to their Director fee, for being on the committee.

The members of the Remuneration Committee receive no separate compensation, in addition to their Director fee, for being on the committee. 

Ref. www.zhaikmunai.com/auditcommittee

1 The Combined Code on Corporate Governance sets out standards of good practice in relation to issues such as board composition and development, remune-

ration, accountability and audit and relations with shareholders.
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The Management Team

the management team consists of 9 individuals. 

As compared to 2007 the team was strengthe-

ned with the hiring of thomas Hartnett in the 

position of general counsel for the group.

• KaI-UWE KESSEL

 chief executive Officer 

• JaN-RU MULLER

 group chief financial Officer

• THOMaS HaRTNETT

 group general counsel

• VYaCHESLaV dRUZHININ

 general director

• aLExEI ERbER

  geology director

• daRMEN JaKISHEV

  finance director

• ECKaRd VERSECK

  Operations director

• bERIK bIMURaTOV

  commercial director

• JÖRG PaHL

  drilling director

Remuneration Committee

the remuneration committee assists the Board 

in determining its responsibilities in relation to 

remuneration, including making recommendati-

ons to the Board on its policy on executive remu-

neration, determining the individual remunerati-

on and benefits package of each of the executive 

directors and recommending and monitoring the 

remuneration of senior management below the 

level of the Board. the remuneration of the non-

executive directors is a matter for the Board as 

a whole.

the remuneration committee comprises Mr Mon-

strey (as chairman), Mr Mcgowan and Mr von der 

Linden and meets not less than two times per 

year. At least one member of the remuneration 

committee must be an independent director.

audit Committee

the Board has established an audit committee 

that operates pursuant to written terms of re-

ference. the audit committee must consist of 

at least two independent directors and at least 

one member who has recent and relevant finan-

cial experience. the audit committee currently 

consists of Mr Mcgowan and Mr von der Linden, 

each of whom is considered to be an independent 

director, and Mr von der Linden serves as chair-

man. the Board considers each member of the 

audit committee to have appropriate financial 

experience.

the audit committee meets not fewer than four 

times each year and is responsible for assisting 

and advising the Board with matters relating to:

•  the issuer’s accounting and financial reporting 

processes;

• the integrity and audits of the issuer’s financial 

statements;

• the issuer’s compliance with legal and regula-

tory requirements; and

• the qualifications, performance and indepen-

dence of the issuer’s independent accountants.

the audit committee is also responsible for en-

gaging company’s independent accountants, 

reviewing the plans and results of each audit 

engagement with company’s independent ac-
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countants, approving professional services pro-

vided by company’s independent accountants, 

considering the range of audit and non-audit 

fees charged by the company’s independent ac-

countants and reviewing the adequacy of the is-

suer’s internal accounting controls. the ultimate 

responsibility for reviewing and approving the 

annual report and accounts and the half yearly 

reports remains with the Board.

Share-related incentive Programmes

the Board approved a grant of options at the iPO 

offer price upon Admission in respect of 2.5% 

of the common units outstanding immediately 

prior to Admission. On 27 March 2008, the fol-

lowing persons were awarded the following op-

tions over common units exercisable at the of-

fer price and expiring ten years from the date of 

Admission:

i kai uwe kessel 750,000 

ii Jan ru Muller 250,000 

iii viacheslav druzhinin 250,000

iv Alexei erber   250,000 

v darmen Jakishev 187,500

vi eckart verseck 187,500

vii Berik Bimuratov  187,500 

 viii Joerg Pahl 187,500 

since such date the Board has further granted:

ix thomas Hartnett 250,000
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INdEPENdENT RESERVE aUdIT REPORT • JULY 1, 2008

www.zhaikmunai.com/reserves

CONSOLIdaTEd FINaNCIaL STaTEMENTS • dECEMbER  31, 2008

www.zhaikmunai.com/financialstatements

ENVIRONMENTaL, HEaLTH & SaFETY dUE dILIGENCE aSSESSMENT • SEPTEMbER 2007

www.zhaikmunai.com/sustainability

aNNUaL REPORT 2007: FROM ExPLORaTION TO PROdUCTION

read details of our financial and operating performance in Zhaikmunai Annual 

report and Accounts 2007. 

www.zhaikmunai.com/annualreport

rePOrts & 
PuBLicAtiOns
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Zhaikmunai LP

Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended december 31, 2008

With Independent auditors’ Report



resPOnsiBiLity stAteMent
to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, 

the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the group management report inclu-

des a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of 

the group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated 

with the expected development of the group.

douglas, June 30, 2009

Zhaikmunai LP 

the Management of Zhaikmunai group Limited acting as the general Partner of Zhaikmunai LP

Kai-Uwe Kessel  Jan-Ru Muller    

ceO and director  group cfO  



indePendent AuditOrs’ rePOrt

To the Partners of Zhaikmunai LP:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements of Zhaikmunai LP and its 

subsidiaries (“the group”), which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 

2008, and the consolidated income statement, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 

then ended, and a summary of significant accoun-

ting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Finan-
cial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of these consolidated finan-

cial statements in accordance with international 

financial reporting standards. this responsibility 

includes: designing, implementing and maintai-

ning internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstate-

ment, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 

applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

making accounting estimates that are reasonable 

in the circumstances.

auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these consolidated financial statements based on 

our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 

with international standards on Auditing. those 

standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. the procedures selec-

ted depend on the auditors’ judgment, including 

the assessment of the risks of material misstate-

ment of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control relevant to 

the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circums-

tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s inter-

nal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-

tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion.

 

Opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated financial state-

ments present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of the group as at 31 december 

2008, and its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

international financial reporting standards.

Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your 

attention to note 2 in the consolidated finan-

cial statements which describes that the group 

breached a loan covenants as of 31 december 

2009 and management’s plans to restructure the 

group’s debt. Because of the breach in covenants 

the loan is classified in current liabilities which 

exceed current assets by us$ 363,451 thousand as 

of 31 december 2008. the company’s dependence 

on refinancing its debt indicates the existence of a 

material uncertainty which may cast a significant 

doubt about the group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern.

30 April 2009
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 notE 2008 2007

aSSETS   

Non-Current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 4 513,491 289,533

Hedging contract at fair value 19 62,923 –

Advances for equipment and construction works  75,385 70,475

  651,799 360,008 

  

Current assets   
restricted cash 7 21,078 –

inventories   3,589 2,496

trade receivables 5 1,084 9,530

Prepayments and other current assets 6 28,081 14,351

income tax prepayment  5,386 –

cash and cash equivalents 7 11,887 7,360

  71,105 33,737 

  

TOTaL aSSETS  722,904 393,745 

  

EQUITY aNd LIabILITIES   

Partnership capital and Reserves   

Partnership capital  8 92,072 –

retained earnings and translation reserve  129,595 66,819

  

  221,667 66,819
   

Non-Current Liabilities    
Long term borrowings 9 – 203,982

Abandonment and site restoration liabilities 10 3,411 1,299

due to government of kazakhstan 11 6,330 6,317

deferred tax liability 18 56,940 26,191

  66,681 237,789 

  

Current Liabilities   
trade payables 12 60,953 36,066

current portion of long term borrowings 9 365,439 45,521

current portion of due to government of kazakhstan 11 1,031 2,062

Other current liabilities 13 7,133 5,488

  434,556 89,137 

  

TOTaL EQUITY aNd LIabILITIES  722,904 393,745

the accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 5 through 29 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

COMbINEd baLaNCE SHEET
as at december 31, 2008
in thousands of us dollars
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 notE 2008 2007

sales of crude oil   135,912 108,490

cost of sales 14 (44,610) (37,401)

Gross Profit  91,302 71,089
   

general and administrative expenses 16 (20,299) (12,542)

selling and oil transportation expenses 15 (24,212) (6,793)

gain on hedging contract 19 64,780 –

interest income  604 –

finance costs 17 (13,171) (6,841)

foreign exchange (loss) / gain  (1,527) 6,247

Other income  1,189 820

   

Profit before income tax  98,666 51,980 

  

income tax expense 18 (35,188) (15,650)

NET INCOME   63,478 36,330 

the accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 5 through 29 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

COMbINEd INCOME STaTEMENT
For the year ended december 31, 2008
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 notE 2008 2007

Cash flow from operating activities:   
Profit before income tax  98,666 51,980

Adjustments for:   

depreciation and amortization  8,045 6,126

Borrowing expenses  11,918 6,454

interest income   (604) –

unrealized gain on hedging contract 19 (63,184) –

unwinding of discount on due to government of kazakhstan 17 992 964

revision of contractual obligation to government of kazakhstan 11 – (679)

unrealized foreign exchange loss / (gain), net  3,649 (6,560)

unwinding of discount on abandonment and site restoration liability 17 261 102

Write-off of property, plant and equipment 4 443 685

Operating profit before working capital changes  60,515 36,324
changes in working capital:   

(increase) / decrease in inventories  (789) 739

decrease / (increase) in trade receivables  8,444 (3,641)

increase in prepayments and other current assets  (13,843) (8,036)

increase in trade payables   1,827 3,347

Payment of obligation to government of kazakhstan  11 (2,062) –

increase in other current liabilities  1,673 3,151

Cash generated from operations   54,638 37,434
income tax paid  (9,617) (6,399)

NET CaSH FLOWS FROM OPERaTING aCTIVITIES  45,819 48,233 

Cash flow from investing activities:   
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (195,800) (173,105)

interest income received  604 –

NET CaSH USEd IN INVESTING aCTIVITIES  (195,196) (173,105) 

  

Cash flow from financing activities:   
repayment of borrowings   (246,353) (3,966)

interest paid  (32,344)  (18,312)

Proceeds from issue of global depositary receipts  8 100,000 –

transaction costs paid  8 (7,928) –

Proceeds from borrowings 9 381,677 151,444

fees paid on arrangement of BnPP facility 9 (19,943) –

NET CaSH PROVIdEd bY FINaNCING aCTIVITIES  175,109 129,166 

  

effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (127) 234 

  

NET INCREaSE IN CaSH aNd CaSH EQUIVaLENTS  25,732 4,294 

  

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  7,360 2,832 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 32,965 7,360

the accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 5 through 29 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIdaTEd STaTEMENT OF CaSH FLOWS
For the year ended december 31, 2008
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 PartnErshiP rEtainEd translation  
 caPital Earnings rEsErvE total

   

as at december 31, 2006  – 26,488 1,704 28,192 

   

translation difference – – 2,297 2,297

net income  – 36,330 – 36,330

as at december 31, 2007 – 62,818 4,001 66,819 

   

translation difference  – – (702) (702)

issue of global depositary 

receipts (note 8)  100,000 – – 100,000

transaction costs (note 8) (7,928) – – (7,928)

net income  – 63,478 – 63,478

as at december 31, 2008 92,072 126,296 3,299 221,667

the accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 5 through 29 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

  

 

CONSOLIdaTEd STaTEMENT OF CHaNGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended december 31, 2008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIdaTEd FINaNCIaL STaTEMENTS
For the year ended december 31, 2008

1. GENERaL
Zhaikmunai LP is a Limited Partnership formed on 29 August 2007 pursuant to the Partnership Act 1909 

of the isle of Man. the Partnership is registered in the isle of Man with registered number 295P.

these consolidated financial statements include the results of the operations of Zhaikmunai L.P. (“Zhaik-

munai LP”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries frans van der schoot B.v. (“fvds”), claydon industrial 

Limited (Bvi) (“claydon”), Jubilata investments Limited (Bvi) (“Jubilata”), Zhaikmunai LLP (“the Part-

nership”) and condensate Holdings LLP (“condensate”). Zhaikmunai LP and its subsidiaries are herein-

after referred to as “the group”. the group’s operations are primarily conducted through its oil and gas 

producing entity Zhaikmunai LLP located in kazakhstan. the group is ultimately indirectly controlled 

through thyler Holdings Limited, by frank Monstrey. the general Partner of the Zhaikmunai LP is Zhaik-

munai group Limited, which is responsible for the management of the group.

the Partnership was established in 1997 for the purpose of exploration and development of the china-

revskoye oil and gas condensate field in the Western kazakhstan region. the Partnership carries out 

its activities in accordance with the contract for Additional exploration, Production and Production-

sharing of crude Hydrocarbons in the chinarevskoye oil and gas condensate field (the “contract”) dated 

October 31, 1997 in accordance with the license Mg no. 253d (the “License”) for the exploration and 

production of hydrocarbons in chinarevskoye oil and gas condensate field between the state committee 

of investments of the republic of kazakhstan and the Partnership. 

On March 28, 2008 Zhaikmunai LP listed 10,000,000 global depository receipts (‘gdrs’) at us$10 per 

gdr, representing 9.09% of the participating rights of the group, on the London stock exchange (‘Lse’).

the group was formed through a reorganization of entities under common control on March 28, 2008 

to enable the listing of gdrs on the Lse. these consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

using the pooling of interest method and, as such, the financial statements have been presented as if 

the transfers of the group interests in frans van der schoot B.v., claydon, Jubilata, Zhaikmunai LLP and 

condensate had occurred from the beginning of the earliest period presented.

the registered address of the Zhaikmunai L.P. is: Anglo international House, Lord street, douglas, iM1 4Ln.

these consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by kai-uwe kessel, chief executive 

Officer of the general Partner of Zhaikmunai LP and by Jan-ru Muller, chief financial Officer of the gene-

ral Partner of Zhaikmunai LP on April 30, 2009.

Licence terms
the term of the license of the Partnership originally included a 5 year exploration period and a 25 year 

production period. the exploration period was initially extended for additional 4 years and then for 

further 2 years according to the supplements to the contract dated January 12, 2004 and June 23, 2005, 

respectively. in accordance with the supplement dated June 5, 2008, tournaisian north reservoir entered 

into production period as at January 1, 2007. following additional commercial discoveries during 2008, 

the exploration period under the license, other than for the tournasian horizons, was extended for an 

additional 3 year period with a new expiry on May 26, 2011.

the extensions to the exploration periods have not changed the license term, which will expire in 2031.

Royalty Payments
the Partnership is required to make monthly royalty payments throughout the entire Production Period, 

at the rates specified in the contract.

royalty rates depend on crude oil recovery levels and the phase of production and can vary from 2% to 

6% and 2% to 7% of produced petroleum and natural gas, respectively.
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Government ‘profit share’
the Partnership makes payments to the government of its “profit share’’ as determined in the contract. 

the “profit share” depends on crude oil production levels and varies from 10% to 40% of production 

after deducting royalties and reimbursable expenditures. reimbursable expenditures include operating 

expenses, costs of additional exploration and development costs. government profit share is expensed 

as incurred.
 

2. baSIS OF PREPaRaTION
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial 

reporting standards (“ifrs”). the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention except for financial instruments.

the preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with ifrs requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates. it also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 

applying the group’s accounting policies. the areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, 

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 

disclosed in note 3.

Going Concern
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the group is a going con-

cern, which assumes continuity of normal business activities and realization of assets and settlement of 

liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

As at december 31, 2008, with respect to the senior secured facility (‘facility Agreement’) (note 9), the 

Partnership was in breach of the covenants related to its eBitdA to interest expense and eBitdA to total 

indebtedness ratios. As at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, BnP Paribas 

has not waived their right to demand immediate repayment of the loans under the facility Agreement, 

which as at december 31, 2008 amounted to us$ 382 million. the company would not have sufficient 

funds to repay the loan in the event the lenders exercise this right, which raises uncertainty as to 

whether the company can continue as a going concern

Management believes the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate as the group is currently 

in advanced discussions with possible finance providers to secure us$ 300 million of financing and in 

connection therewith is also negotiating with BnP Paribas for a restructuring of the existing facility 

Agreement such that the group would no longer be in breach of covenants in the facility Agreement. 

under these scenarios, cashflow forecasts prepared by the group indicate the group will be able to pay 

its debts as and when they fall due.

adopted accounting standards and interpretations
the group has adopted the following new and amended ifrs and international financial reporting inter-

pretations committee (“ifric”) interpretations during the year. Adoption of these revised standards and 

interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the group.

• iAs 23 Borrowing costs - amendment

• ifric 11 / ifrs 2  Partnership and treasury share transactions

• ifric 12 service concession Arrangements

• ifric 14 / iAs 19 the Limit on a defined Benefit Asset, Minimum funding requirements and   

 their interaction
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IAS 23 Amended – Borrowing costs

this standard has been revised to require capitalization of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a 

qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 

ready for its intended use or sale. this standard was early adopted by the group and has no effect on the 

financial position or performance of the group.

IFRIC 11 / IFRS 2 – Partnership and Treasury Share Transactions

this interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an entity’s equity 

instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the entity buys the instruments 

from another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. the amendment of its 

accounting policy had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Partnership.

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

the ifric issued ifric 12 in november 2006. this interpretation applies to service concession operators 

and explains how to account for the obligations taken and rights received in service concession arrange-

ments. the group has no such concessions, therefore this interpretation has no impact on the group.

IFRIC 14 / IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

ifric interpretation 14 provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a de-

fined benefit scheme that can be recognized as an asset under iAs 19 employee Benefits. the group does 

not have defined benefit schemes, therefore the adoption of this interpretation had no impact on the 

financial position or performance of the group.

New accounting developments
the following ifrs and ifric interpretations are not yet in effect as at december 31, 2008:

• ifrs 1 first-time Adoption of international financial reporting standards - amendment

• ifrs 2 share-based Payment – vesting conditions and cancellations – amendment

• ifrs 7 financial instruments: disclosures – amendment “improving disclosures about financial  

  instruments”

• ifrs 3r Business combinations

• ifrs 8 Operating segments

• iAs 1 Presentation of financial statements - amendment

• iAs 27r consolidated and separate financial statements

• iAs 32 financial instruments: Presentation and iAs 1 Presentation of financial statements –   

  Puttable financial instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation – amendments

• iAs 39 financial instruments: recognition and Measurement – eligible Hedged items - amendment

• ifric 13 customer Loyalty Programs

• ifric 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate

• ifric 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign Operation

• ifric 17 distributions of non-cash Assets to Owners

• ifric 18 transfer of Assets from

Amendments to ifrs 1 first-time Adoption of international financial reporting standards and iAs 27 

consolidated and separate financial statements
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the amendments to ifrs 1 allows an entity to determine the ‘cost’ of investments in subsidiaries, jointly 

controlled entities or associates in its opening ifrs financial statements in accordance with iAs 27 or 

using a deemed cost. the amendment to iAs 27 requires all dividends from a subsidiary, jointly control-

led entity or associate to be recognised in the income statement in the separate financial statement. 

Both revisions will be effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. the revision 

to iAs 27 will have to be applied prospectively. the new requirements affect only the parent’s separate 

financial statement and do not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to ifrs 2 – vesting conditions and cancellations was issued in January 2008 and become 

effective for annual period on or after 1 January 2009. the amendment clarifies that vesting conditions 

are service conditions and performance conditions only. it also specifies that all cancellations, whether 

by the entity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. these amendments will 

have no impact on the financial position or performance of the group as the group has not made any 

share based payments during 2008.

IFRS 3R Business Combinations and IAS 27R Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

the revised standards were issued in January 2008 and become effective for financial years beginning 

on or after 1 July 2009. ifrs 3r introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combina-

tions occurring after this date that will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results 

in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. iAs 27r requires that a change in 

the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. 

furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as 

well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made to iAs 7 state-

ment of cash flows, iAs 12 income taxes, iAs 21 the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates, iAs 

28 investment in Associates and iAs 31 interests in Joint ventures. the changes by ifrs 3r and iAs 27r 

will affect future acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests. the standards 

may be early applied. However, the group does not intend to take advantage of this possibility.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

ifrs 8 was issued in november 2006 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 

January 2009. this standard requires disclosure of information about the group’s operating segments 

and replaced the requirement to determine primary (business) and secondary (geographical) reporting 

segments of the group. this standard will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the 

group, as the group has a single reportable segment.

IAS 1 Revised Presentation of Financial Statements

the revised standard was issued in september 2007 and becomes effective for financial years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2009. the standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity.  the state-

ment of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes 

in equity presented as a single line. in addition, the standard introduces the statement of comprehensive 

income: it presents all items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two 

linked statements. the group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements.
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IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable 

Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

these amendments to iAs 32 and iAs 1 were issued in february 2008 and become effective for financial 

years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. the revisions provide a limited scope exception for puttable 

instruments to be classified as equity if they fulfil a number of specified features. the amendments to 

the standards will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the group, as the group 

has not issued such instruments.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items

these amendments to iAs 39 were issued in August 2008 and become effective for financial years begin-

ning on or after 1 July 2009. the amendment addresses the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged 

item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. it clarifies 

that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of a 

financial instrument as hedged item. the group has concluded that the amendment will have no impact 

on the financial position or performance of the group.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures– amendment “Improving Disclosures about Financial Instru-

ments”

Amendments to ifrs 7 “improving disclosures about financial instruments” were issued in March 2009 

and become effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 with early application permitted. 

these amendments improve disclosures of financial instruments and will have no impact on the finan-

cial position or performance of the group but will result in more detailed disclosures regarding measure-

ment of the fair value of financial instruments.

IFRIC 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate

ifric 15 was issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 

January 2009. the interpretation is to be applied retrospectively. it clarifies when and how revenue and 

related expenses from the sale of a real estate unit should be recognised if an agreement between a de-

veloper and a buyer is reached before the construction of the real estate is completed. furthermore, the 

interpretation provides guidance on how to determine whether an agreement is within the scope of iAs 

11 or iAs 18. ifric 15 will not have an impact on the consolidated financial statement because the group 

does not conduct such activity.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

ifric 16 was issued in July 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 Octo-

ber 2008. the interpretation is to be applied prospectively. ifric 16 provides guidance on the accounting 

for a hedge of a net investment. As such it provides guidance on identifying the foreign currency risks 

that qualify for hedge accounting in the hedge of a net investment, where within the group the hed-

ging instruments can be held in the hedge of a net investment and how an entity should determine the 

amount of foreign currency gain or loss, relating to both the net investment and the hedging instrument, 

to be recycled on disposal of the net investment. ifric 16 will not have an impact on the consolidated 

financial statement because the group does not conduct such activity.

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

ifric 17 was issued in november 2008 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 
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1 July 2009 with early application permitted. this interpretation should be applied prospectively. ifric 

17 provides guidance on accounting for distributions of non-cash assets to owners. As such it provides 

guidance on when to recognise a liability, how to measure it and the associated assets, and when to 

derecognise the asset and liability and the consequences of doing so. ifric 17 will have no impact on the 

financial position or performance of the group, as the group does not distribute non-cash assets to its 

owners.

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

ifric 18 was issued in January 2009 and becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 

1 July 2009 with early application permitted, provided valuations were obtained at the date those 

transfers occurred. this interpretation should be applied prospectively. ifric 18 provides guidance on 

accounting for agreements in which an entity receives from a customer an item of property, plant and 

equipment that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the 

customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services or to do both. the interpretation clarifies 

the circumstances, in which the definition of an asset is met, the recognition of the asset and its mea-

surement on initial recognition, the identification of the separately identifiable services, the recognition 

of revenue and the accounting for transfers of cash from customers. ifric 18 will have no impact on the 

financial position or performance of the group, as the group does not receive assets from customers.

the management anticipates that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods 

will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the group. 

in May 2008 the Board issued its first omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view 

to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. there are separate transitional provisions for each 

standard. the group adopted those amendments and improvements to ifrss which are applicable to its 

operating activities in 2008.

3. SUMMaRY OF SIGNIFICaNT aCCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimation and assumptions
the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material change to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Oil and gas reserves

Oil and gas reserves are a material factor in the Partnership’s computation of depreciation, depletion 

and amortization (the “dd&A”). the Partnership estimates its reserves of oil and gas in accordance with 

the methodology of the society of Petroleum engineers (the “sPe”). in estimating its reserves under sPe 

methodology, the Partnership uses long-term planning prices which are also used by management to 

make investment decisions about development of a field. using planning prices for estimating proved re-

serves removes the impact of the volatility inherent in using year end spot prices. Management believes 

that long-term planning price assumptions are more consistent with the long-term nature of the up-

stream business and provide the most appropriate basis for estimating oil and gas reserves. All reserve 

estimates involve some degree of uncertainty. the uncertainty depends mainly on the amount of reliable 

geological and engineering data available at the time of the estimate and the interpretation of this data. 
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the relative degree of uncertainty can be conveyed by placing reserves into one of two principal clas-

sifications, either proved or unproved. Proved reserves are more certain to be recovered than unproved 

reserves and may be further sub-classified as developed and undeveloped to denote progressively incre-

asing uncertainty in their recoverability. estimates are reviewed and revised annually. revisions occur 

due to the evaluation or re-evaluation of already available geological, reservoir or production data; avai-

lability of new data; or changes to underlying price assumptions. reserve estimates may also be revised 

due to improved recovery projects, changes in production capacity or changes in development strategy. 

Proved developed reserves are used to calculate the unit of production rates for dd&A. 

Impairment 
the group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be im-

paired.  if any such indication exists, the group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs 

to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not gene-

rate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the 

carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 

written down to its recoverable amount. in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. the time value of money is determined 

based on weighted average cost of capital of the group. there were no impairment losses recognized by 

the group during the years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007.

 

Foreign Currency Translation

the functional currency of the entities of the group is the kazakhstani tenge (“tenge” or “kZt”). trans-

actions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the date of 

transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 

functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to profit 

or loss. non monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. non monetary items mea-

sured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 

value was determined.

the consolidated financial statements are presented in us dollars (us$), which is the presentation 

currency of the group. As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities are translated into the presen-

tation currency of the group at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income 

statements are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. the exchange differences 

arising on the translation are taken directly to equity.

Consolidation
the consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent entity and its 

controlled subsidiaries (note 1).

inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between companies are 

eliminated. unrealized losses are also eliminated but considered as an impairment indicator of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consis-

tency with the policies adopted by the group. 
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Subsidiaries

subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating 

policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. the existence 

and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 

assessing whether the group controls another entity. subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 

on which control is transferred to the group and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 

control ceases. 

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets that is not held by the group and 

are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated 

balance sheet, separately from parent shareholder’s equity. 

the differences between the carrying values of net assets attributable to interests in subsidiaries ac-

quired and the consideration given for such increases are charged or credited to retained earnings.

Purchases of controlling interests in subsidiaries from entities under common control

Purchases of controlling interests in subsidiaries from entities under common control are accounted for 

using the pooling of interests method. 

the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary transferred under common control are recorded in these con-

solidated financial statements at the historical cost of the controlling entity. Any difference between the 

total book value of net assets and the consideration paid is accounted for in the consolidated financial 

statements as an adjustment to the shareholders’ equity.

these consolidated financial statements, including corresponding figures, are presented as if a subsidi-

ary had been acquired by the group on the date it was originally acquired by the controlling entity.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Oil and Gas Properties 

geological and geophysical exploration costs are charged against income as incurred. costs directly 

associated with an exploration well are capitalized within property, plant and equipment (construction 

work-in-progress) until the drilling of the well is complete and the results have been evaluated. these 

costs include employee remuneration and materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to 

contractors. if hydrocarbons are not found, the exploration expenditure is written off as a dry hole. if hy-

drocarbons are found and, subject to further appraisal activity, which may include the drilling of further 

wells (exploration or exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells), are likely to be capable of commercial 

development, the costs continue to be carried as an asset. All such carried costs are subject to technical, 

commercial and management review at least once a year to confirm the continued intent to develop or 

otherwise extract value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off.

All capitalized costs of oil and gas properties are amortized using the unit-of-production method based 

on estimated proved developed reserves of the field, except in the case of assets that have a useful life 

shorter than the lifetime of the field, in which case the straight line method is applied.

Oil and Gas Reserves

Proved oil and gas reserves are estimated quantities of commercially viable hydrocarbons which exis-

ting geological, geophysical and engineering data show to be recoverable in future years from known 

reservoirs.

the Partnership uses the reserve estimates provided by an independent appraiser to assess the oil 
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and gas reserves of its oil and gas fields. these reserve quantities are used for calculating the unit of 

production depreciation rate as it reflects the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 

benefits by the entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets
the group assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-

cumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. individual assets are 

grouped for impairment assessment purposes at the lowest level at which there are identifiable cash 

flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. if any such indication 

of impairment exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset group is required, the group 

makes an estimate of its recoverable amount. An asset group’s recoverable amount is the higher of its 

fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds 

its recoverable amount, the asset group is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 

amount. in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific 

to the asset group and are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. if such indication exists, 

the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there 

has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognized. if that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 

recoverable amount. that increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

such reversal is recognized in the income statement. 

After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s re-

vised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Other Properties
All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost 

includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. subsequent costs 

are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and 

the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 

income statement during the year in which they are incurred.

depreciation is calculated on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as fol

lows: yEars

Buildings and improvements 7-15

vehicles 5

Machinery and equipment 3-13

Other 3-10

borrowing Costs
the group capitalizes borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Assets qualifying for borrowing costs capi-

talization include all assets under construction that are not being depreciated, depleted, or amortized, 
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provided that work is in progress at that time. Qualifying assets mostly include wells and other oilfield 

infrastructure under construction. capitalized borrowing costs are calculated by applying the capitaliza-

tion rate to the expenditures on qualifying assets. the capitalization rate is the weighted average of the 

borrowing costs applicable to the group’s borrowings that are outstanding during the period. 

Inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (“nrv”). cost of oil is determined on 

the weighted-average method and other inventories are also valued using the weighted average cost 

method. net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling 

expenses.

Trade Receivables
Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollec-

tible amounts. An estimate for uncollectible amounts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer 

probable. these estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become necessary, they are repor-

ted as expense (credit) in the period in which they become known. Bad debts are written off when identified.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents
cash and cash equivalents are recognized and measured at the fair value of consideration received. cash 

and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank deposits that mature within ninety days from 

the date of origination and are free from contractual encumbrances.

borrowings
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are sub-

sequently stated at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the 

proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated financial 

information over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 

gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognized or im-

paired, as well as through amortization of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 

a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Abandonment and site restoration

(decommissioning)

Provision for decommissioning is recognized in full, on a discounted cash flow basis, when the group has 

an obligation to dismantle and remove a facility or an item of plant and to restore the site on which it is 

located, and when a reasonable estimate of that provision can be made. the amount of the obligation is 

the present value of the estimated expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation adjus-

ted for expected inflation and discounted using average long-term interest rates for emerging market 

debt adjusted for risks specific to the kazakhstan market. the unwinding of the discount related to the 

obligation is recorded in finance costs. A corresponding tangible fixed asset of an amount equivalent to 
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the provision is also created. this asset is subsequently depreciated as part of the capital costs of the oil 

and gas properties on a unit-of-production basis. 

changes in the measurement of an existing decommissioning liability that result from changes in the 

estimated timing or amount of the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required to settle 

the obligation, or changes to the discount rate:

 (a) are added to, or deducted from, the cost of the related asset in the current period. if deducted   

 from the cost of the asset the amount deducted shall not exceed its carrying amount. if a decrease

 in the provision exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is recognized immediately in  

 the income statement; and

 (b) if the adjustment results in an addition to the cost of an asset, the group considers whether this  

 is an indication that the new carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. if it is such  

 an indication, the group tests the asset for impairment by estimating its recoverable amount, and  

 accounts for any impairment loss in accordance with iAs 36.

Financial assets
financial assets within the scope of iAs 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial assets, as 

appropriate. When financial assets are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the 

case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

the Partnership determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where al-

lowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, which is the 

date that the Partnership commits to purchase the asset. regular way purchases or sales are purchases 

or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading and finan-

cial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 

near term. derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 

unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or a financial guarantee contract. gains or 

losses on investments held for trading are recognized in profit or loss. 

the Partnership assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host con-

tracts when the Partnership first becomes party to the contract. reassessment only occurs if there is a 

change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be 

required.

Cash and cash equivalents

cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and at hand and short-term 

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Financial liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, 
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and have not been designated as “at fair value through profit or loss”.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method.

gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through 

the amortization process.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 

near term. derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 

unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. gains or losses on liabilities held for tra-

ding are recognized in profit or loss.

derivative financial instruments and hedging
the Partnership uses a hedging contract for oil export sales to cover part of its risks associated with oil 

price fluctuations. such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date 

on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. derivatives 

are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify 

for hedge accounting are taken directly to profit or loss.

the fair value of financial instruments contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar 

instruments.

Taxation
deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the balance 

sheet method. deferred income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except where 

the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are measured at tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liabi-

lity is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 

is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Trade and Other Payables  
trade and other payables are carried the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods 

and services received, whether or not billed to the group.
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Revenue Recognition 
the Partnership sells crude oil under short-term agreements priced by reference to Platt’s index quotati-

ons and adjusted for freight, insurance and quality differentials.

revenue from the sale of crude oil is recognized when delivery has taken place and risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the customer. 

revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 

will flow to the Partnership and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured.

Expense Recognition 
expenses are accounted for at the time the actual flow of the related goods or services occur, regardless 

of when cash or its equivalent is paid, and are reported in the financial statements in the period to which 

they relate.

Social Tax and deductions to Pension Fund
the Partnership contributes 21% of the gross income of employees as a social tax to the government of 

the republic of kazakhstan. social tax and related staff costs are expensed as incurred. 

the Partnership also withholds and contributes up to 10% from the salary of its employees as the 

employees’ contribution to their designated pension funds. under the legislation, employees are res-

ponsible for their retirement benefits and the Partnership has no present or future obligation to pay its 

employees upon their retirement.
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balance at 
december 31, 2006, 
net of accumulated
depreciation 55,409 76,243 131,652 1,960 530 904 804 4,198 135,850

Additions 185 148,589 148,774 285 555 230 478 1,548 
150,322Write off – – – – (17) – (60) (77) (77)
transfers 44,553 (46,250) (1,697) 278 1,401 – 18 1,697 
disposal – (679) (679) – – (2) (5) (7) (686)
depreciation charge (5,197) – (5,197) (247) (351) (161) (235) (994) (6,191)
translation difference  3,741 6,221 9,962 111 74 44 47 276 10,238

balance at 
december 31, 2007, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 98,691 184,124 282,815 2,387 2,209 1,015 1,107 6,718 289,533

Additions 3,290 228,734 232,024 376 849 734 797 2,756 234,780
transfers 73,546 (72,645) 901 264 (1,044) – (121) (901) –
transferred to inventory – (37) (37) – – – – – (37)
Write off  – (442) (442) – (14) – (3) (17) (459)
depreciation charge (7,132) – (7,132) (311) (362) (203) (261) (1,137) (8,269)
depreciation on write off – – – – 14 – 2 16 16
translation difference (670) (1,373) (2,043) (9) (7) (7) (7) (30) (2,073)

balance at 
december 31, 2008, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 167,725 338,361 506,086 2,707 1,645 1,539 1,514 7,405 513,491

At cost at 
december 31, 2007 146,324 184,124 330,448 2,912 2,974 1,507 1,514 8,907 339,355 
Accumulated 
depreciation (47,633) – (47,633) (525) (765) (492) (407) (2,189) (49,822)

balance at 
december 31, 2007, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 98,691 184,124 282,815 2,387 2,209 1,015 1,107 6,718 289,533

At cost at 
december 31, 2008 222,275 338,361 560,636 3,538 2,754 2,232 2,178 10,702 571,338
Accumulated 
depreciation (54,550) – (54,550) (831) (1,109) (693) (664) (3,297) (57,847)

balance at 
december 31, 2008, 
net of accumulated 
depreciation 167,725 338,361 506,086 2,707 1,645 1,539 1,514 7,405 513,491

4. PROPERTY, PLaNT aNd EQUIPMENT
the movement of property, plant and equipment for the year ended december 31, 2007 and 2008 was as follows:

oil and gas ProPErtiEs non oil and gas ProPErtiEs

working
assEtsin thousands of us dollars ciP

total oil 
and gas 

ProPErtiEs BUildings

machinEry 
&

EqUiPEmEnt vEhiclEs othErs

total  
non oil

gas 
ProPErtiEs total  
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category “Oil and gas properties” represents mainly wells, oil treatment facilities and other related assets.

category “non Oil and gas properties” represents mainly buildings, vehicles, machinery, equipment and 

other assets.

the Partnership calculates depreciation, depletion and amortization of oil and gas properties using the 

unit-of-production method. A depletion rate is computed by dividing the unamortized costs of proved 

oil and gas properties by the total estimated proved developed reserves. this depletion rate is applied to 

the physical units of oil and gas produced during the relevant period. the unamortized costs of proved 

oil and gas properties include all capitalized costs net of accumulated amortization. 

the depletion rate for oil and gas working assets was 6.18% and 6.76% in 2008 and 2007 respectively. 

the unamortized costs of proved oil and gas properties include all capitalized costs net of accumulated 

amortization. 

the Partnership engaged independent petroleum engineers to perform a reserves evaluation as at July 

1, 2008. depreciation has been calculated using the unit of production method based on these reserves 

estimates. 

 

4. PROPERTY, PLaNT aNd EQUIPMENT (continued)
A depreciation charge of us$ 8,269 thousand has been charged to depreciation and amortization 

expense for 2008 less us$ 224 thousand which represent the effect of capitalization of depreciation as 

part of crude oil inventory (2007: us$ 6,191 thousand and us$ 65 thousand, respectively).

Additions to property, plant and equipment during the year ended december 31, 2008, included assets, 

works and services not yet paid for in the amount of us$ 21,606 thousand (2007: us$ 19,077 thousand).

the Partnership incurred borrowing costs including amortization of arrangement fee, of us$ 31,558 

thousand, and us$ 19,414 thousand for the years ended december 31, 2008 and 2007, at the average in-

terest rates of 8.6% and 13% per annum, respectively. for the same periods, the Partnership capitalized 

borrowing costs totaling us$ 19,640 thousand and us$ 12,960 thousand, respectively.

5. TRadE RECEIVabLES 
As at december 31, trade receivables were denominated in us$, are less than 30 days, and are not im-

paired. 

6. PREPaYMENTS aNd OTHER CURRENT aSSETS
As at december 31, prepayments and other current assets comprised the following:

in thousands of us dollars  2008 2007 

vAt receivable  20,606 11,561

Advances paid  2,104 1,644

receivable under hedging contract  2,613 –

Advance to Probel capital Management B.v.  1,620 –

Other  1,138 1,146

  

  28,081 14,351

Advances paid consist primarily of prepayments made to service providers. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIdaTEd FINaNCIaL STaTEMENTS
For the year ended december 31, 2008
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7. CaSH aNd CaSH EQUIVaLENTS

in thousands of us dollars  2008 2007

  

current accounts in us dollars   7,345 6,019

current accounts in tenge  4,222 1,341

cash accounts in other currencies  320 –

 

  11,887 7,360

no interest is earned on current accounts.

 

8. PaRTNERSHIP CaPITaL
the ownership interests in Zhaikmunai LP consist of common units, which represent a fractional entitle-

ment in respect of all of the limited partner interests in the Zhaikmunai LP and the general Partner.  At 

any general meeting every holder of common units shall have one vote for each common unit of which 

he or she is the holder. under the Partnership Agreement, distributions to limited partners will be made 

either as determined by the general Partner in its sole discretion or following the approval of a majority 

of limited partners provided such amount does not exceed the amount recommended by the general 

Partner. Any distributions to the Zhaikmunai LP’s limited partners will be made on a pro rata basis 

according to their respective partnership interests in the Zhaikmunai LP and will be paid only to the 

recorded holders of common units. there were no distributions declared for the years ended december 

31, 2008 and 2007.

the issuance cost of listing the gdr’s amounted to us$ 7,928 thousand.

9. bORROWINGS
Borrowings, including interest accrued thereon, comprise the following as at december 31:

in thousands of us dollars   2008    2007

  cUrrEnt non-cUrrEnt  cUrrEnt non-cUrrEnt 

             

credit line 

due to Bank 

turan Alem  – –   38,793  203,982
Loan due 

to Blavin 

Holdings 

Limited  – –   6,728  –
credit line 

due to BnP 

Paribas  365,439 –   –  –

  365,439 –   45,521  203,982
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NOTES TO THE COMbINEd FINaNCIaL INFORMaTION 
For the year ended december 31, 2007

Facility agreement with bNP Paribas
On december 12, 2007 the Partnership entered into a us$ 550 million senior secured facility agreement 

between BnP Paribas (“ facility agreement”), as a facility agent, and the Partnership, as a borrower, and 

Zhaikmunai LP as guarantor. the Partnership drew down on March 7, 2008 approximately us$ 291 million 

for (inter alia) the purpose of fully refinancing the BtA facility and fully refinancing the loan from Blavin. 

the Partnership used the further proceeds of the BnP Paribas facility to finance the construction of a gas 

treatment facility and otherwise towards developing the field. initially, the BnP Paribas facility comprised 

three tranches of us$ 200 million, us$ 200 million and us$ 150 million. drawdowns above us$ 450 million 

are subject to certain conditions relating to syndication by BnP Paribas which have not been satisfied as of 

the date of this publication. As of december 31, 2008 the Partnership had drawn down us$ 381 million.

the rate of interest payable on outstanding amounts under each tranche will be LiBOr plus mandatory cost 

plus, under tranche 1, a margin of 3%, under tranche 2, a margin of 4% and under tranche 3, a margin of 5%.

the total amount outstanding is repayable in accordance with the schedule, reducing the total commitments 

to zero by december 31, 2014. in addition, the BnP Paribas facility is mandatorily prepayable to the extent 

of the proceeds of any material disposals, debt offerings and a cash sweep of 50% of the Partnership collec-

ted revenue (in excess of us$ 25 million). the Partnership is also entitled to voluntarily prepay the amounts 

outstanding. the Partnership is required to give customary representations and warranties, repeated perio-

dically and certain covenants relating to profitability. 

the Partnership maintains a hedging programme pursuant to which it hedges a minimum Brent crude oil 

price of us$ 70 per bbl for at least 25% of the initial production profile, as assessed by BnP Paribas, for the 

ne and W tournasian horizons for the period 2008 to 2013. the Partnership is additionally required to main-

tain and fund a debt service reserve account with a balance equal to at least 5% of the amount outstanding 

under the BnP Paribas facility. Lastly, the Partnership is required to maintain annual oil and gas off-take 

contracts (gas sales to be commenced in 2010) with off-takers required to purchase 80% of total production 

and 100% of production available for export. the Partnership’s obligations under the BnP Paribas facility 

are secured by various forms of security, including, (i) a pledge over 100% of the participatory interests in 

the Partnership; (ii) pledges over its bank accounts; (iii) the assignment of rights under the off-take contracts; 

(iv) assignment of all guarantees or performance bonds issued in connection with the contract with kss for 

the gas treatment facility; and (v) assignment of the benefit of the Partnership’s relevant existing and future 

insurance policies. the Partnership’s restricted cash under the terms of the BnP Paribas facility amounted 

to us$ 19,078 thousand as at december 31, 2008 (note 7).

As a result of lower than anticipated eBitdA at december 31, 2008 the Partnership was in breach of the 

covenant related to its eBitdA to interest expense and total indebtness ratios. consequently, BnP Paribas, 

pursuant to the loan agreement, has confirmed to the Partnership that they will not distribute the balance of 

us$ 69 million at this time. However, the Partnership believes BnP Paribas will not call the loan as a result of 

the breach. the Partnership is also currently working with BnP Paribas eBrd, and other financial institutions 

to secure alternative funding of an amount of us$ 300 million to finance the Partnership’s ongoing capital 

expenditure program (note 2).

in thousands of us dollars  2008   2007

  

Principal amount as at december 31  381,677 –

fees incurred on arrangement of BnPP facility  (19,943) –

Amortization of arrangement fees  3,705 –

  

  365,439 –

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIdaTEd FINaNCIaL STaTEMENTS
For the year ended december 31, 2008
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10. abaNdONMENT aNd SITE RESTORaTION LIabILITIES
the summary of changes in abandonment and site restoration liabilities during the years ended decem-

ber 31 are as follows:

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007 

 

Abandonment and site restoration liability as at January 1, 1,299 1,214

unwinding of discount  271 102

Additional provision 271 410

change in estimates 1,570 (427)

 

 3,411 1,299

the long-term inflation and discount rates used to determine the abandonment and site restoration 

liabilities at december 31, 2008 were 5.0% and 9.4%, respectively (2007: 5.0% and 13%).  

11. dUE TO GOVERNMENT OF KaZaKHSTaN
the amount due to government of the republic of kazakhstan has been recorded to reflect the present 

value of expenditures made by the government in the time period prior to signing the contract that were 

related to exploration of the contract territory and the construction of surface facilities in fields discovered 

therein and that are reimbursable by the Partnership to the government during the production period. 

repayment of this liability commenced in 2008 with the first payment of us$ 1,030 thousand in March 

2008 and with further payments by equal quarterly instalments of us$ 258 thousand until May 26, 2031. 

the liability was discounted at 13%.

the total amount of liability due to government as stipulated by the contract is us$ 25,000 thousand. the 

balances as at december 31, and changes in the amount due to government of kazakhstan for the year 

were as follows:

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

due to government of kazakhstan as at January 1,  8,379 8,094

unwinding of discount   1,044 964

revision of contractual obligation  – (679)

Paid during the year  (2,062) –

  7,361 8,379

Less: current portion of due to Government of Kazakhstan (1,031) (2,062)

due to Government of Kazakhstan  6,330 6,317
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12. TRadE PaYabLES

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

tenge denominated trade payables  41,679 19,065

us dollar denominated trade payables  18,617 16,489

trade payables denominated in other currencies  657 512

 

  60,953 36,066

13. OTHER CURRENT LIabILITIES

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

taxes payable, other than corporate income tax 1,950 2,892

training accrual 3,049 1,687

equity option plan (note 20) 516 –

due to employees 491 270

Other 1,127 639

 

 7,133 5,488

14. COST OF SaLES

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

depreciation and amortization 7,883 6,126

Well workover costs 6,355 7,103

royalties 5,705 5,265

repair, maintenance and other services 5,149 4,453

Payroll and related taxes 4,661 3,048

Materials and supplies 3,855 2,800

rent and operation of oil separation units 2,926 2,678

environmental levies 2,752 913

Management fees  1,771 1,957

Other transportation services 1,681 1,243

government profit share 1,125 994

Other 747 821

 

 44,610 37,401
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15. SELLING aNd OIL TRaNSPORTaTION ExPENSES
sales and transportation expenses consist primarily of costs in transporting oil to the railway loading 

terminal and costs of using the railway loading terminal. staff costs related to sales are not significant.

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

Oil export duty 15,086 –

transporting oil to the railway loading terminal costs 4,985 4,236

Oil loading and storage costs 2,835 1,621

Other 1,306 936

 

 24,212 6,793

16. GENERaL aNd adMINISTRaTIVE ExPENSES

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

Management fees 5,385 3,082

Professional services 4,612 1,978

Payroll and related taxes 2,956 2,187

training 2,501 1,698

Bank charges  588 1,298

equity option plan (note 20) 516 –

sponsorship 346 314

communication 395 298

social program 300 255

insurance fees  724 211

Materials and supplies 163 197

Lease payments 268 187

Business trip 352 155

Other taxes 418 4

Other 775 678

 

 20,299 12,542
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17. FINaNCE COSTS, NET

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

interest expense  10,151 6,454

Amortization of fees incurred on arrangement of syndicated loan agreement  1,330 –

revision of contractual obligation to government (note 11)  – (679)

commitment fees on syndicated loan agreement  437 –

unwinding of discount on Abandonment and site restoration Liability  261 102

unwinding of discount on amounts due to government  992 964

  

  13,171 6,841

 

18. INCOME Tax ExPENSES 
the provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

income tax expenses comprise:  

    - current income tax expense 4,193 6,382

    - deferred income tax expense 30,995 9,268

Total income tax expense 35,188 15,650

the group’s profits are assessed for income taxes only in the republic of kazakhstan. A reconciliation of 

income tax expense applicable to profit before income tax using the kazakhstani tax rate, applicable to 

the license, of 30% to income tax expense as reported in the group’s consolidated financial statements 

for the years ended december 31 is as follows:

in thousands of tenge 2008 2007

  

Profit before income tax 98,666 51,980

statutory tax rate 30% 30%

Expected tax provision 29,600 15,594

non-deductible interest expense on borrowings 4,686 2,565

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year (1,116) (2,128)

foreign exchange loss / (gain) 460 (1,875)

difference arising on on Abandonment and site restoration 

Liability and payables due to government 263 83

Other non-deductible expenses 1,295 1,411

Income tax expense reported in the accompanying financial statements 35,188 15,650
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deferred tax balances are calculated by applying the kazakhstani statutory tax rates in effect at the 

respective balance sheet dates to the temporary differences between the tax and the amounts reported 

in the financial statements and are comprised of the following at december 31:

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

deferred tax asset: 

Accounts payable and provisions 1,413 610

 1,413 610

deferred tax liability:  

crude oil inventory (551) (216)

Hedging contract at fair value (18,877) –

Property, plant and equipment (38,925) (26,585)

Net deferred tax liability (56,940) (26,191)

As at december 31, the movements in the deferred tax liability were as follows: 

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

deferred tax asset: 

Balance at January 1, (26,191) (15,867)

current year charge / (benefit) to translation reserve 246 (1,056)

current year charge to statement of income (30,995) (9,268)

balance at december 31, (56,940) (26,191)

19. HEdGING OF OIL ExPORT SaLES
Pursuant to the terms of the BnP Paribas facility the Partnership has entered, at nil cost, into a hedging 

contract covering oil export sales commencing March 2008 through till december 2013.

year          quantity barrels (‘bbls’) per month

2008    96,769

2009    107,639

2010    99,461

2011    96,956

2012    60,493

2013    48,384
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 transactions with related parties mainly comprise transactions between the combined entity and the 

the hedging contract specifies that on payment date, either

 a) if the floating Amount determined in respect of the preceding calculation Period is   

 positive, then the Partnership shall receive such floating Amount from BnP Paribas; or

 b) if the floating Amount determined in respect of the preceding calculation Period is negative, then  

 BnP Paribas shall receive the absolute value of such floating Amount from the Partnership.

the floating Amount shall be determined as follows: floating Amount = % [A-B}*Quantity where, 

A and B mean the following:

 a) in the calculation Periods from, and including, March 2008, to, and including, december 2009:

 A= Max (0; 70 - floating Price) ; and

 B = Max (0; floating Price - 123)

 b) in the calculation Periods from, and including, January 2010, to, and including, december 2013:

 A = (70 - floating Price),

 B = Min (0; 79 - floating Price)

the floating Price is the arithmetic average of the settlement prices per barrel of Brent crude oil for each 

commodity business day in the calculation period, on the 1Pe for the first nearby ice Brent crude futures 

contract.

gains and losses on the hedge contract, which do not qualify for hedge accounting, are taken directly to 

income statement.

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  
realized hedging gain 1,596 –

unrealized hedging gain 63,184 –

Gain on hedging contract 64,780 –

unrealized hedging gain 63,184 –

translation difference (261) –

Hedging contract at fair value 62,923 –

during the year ended 31 december 2007 the combined entity had the following transactions with 

related parties:

20. EQUITY-baSEd TRaNSaCTIONS
employees (including senior executives and executive directors) of members of the group receive remu-

neration in the form of equity-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as con-

sideration for share appreciation rights, which can only be settled in cash (‘cash-settled transactions’).

the cost of cash-settled equity-based employee compensation is measured initially at fair value at the 

grant date using a binomial model. this fair value is expensed over the period until vesting with the 

recognition of a corresponding liability. the liability is remeasured at each balance sheet date up to and 

including the settlement date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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the expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table:

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

expense arising from cash-settled share-based payment transactions 516 –

the equity-based payment plan is described below. there have been no cancellations or modifications to 

any of the plans during 2008. 

On March 27, 2008, 2,500,000 equity appreciation rights (sArs) were granted to senior employees and 

executive directors of members of the group, which can only be settled in cash. these will vest over a five 

year period from the date of grant, so that one fifth of granted sArs vests on each of the five anniversa-

ries from the date of grant date. the contractual life of the sArs is ten years. the fair value of the sArs 

is measured at the grant date using a binomial option pricing model taking into account the terms and 

conditions upon which the instruments were granted. sArs are exercisable at any time after vesting 

till the end of the contractual life and give its holder a right to a difference between the market value of 

the group’s gdrs at the date of exercise and the iPO value of gdr’s, which is 10 us dollars. the services 

received and a liability to pay for those services are recognised over the expected vesting period. until 

the liability is settled it is remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in 

profit or loss as part of the employee benefit expenses arising from cash-settled share-based payment 

transactions. 

the carrying amount of the liability relating to the sArs at december 31, 2008 is us$ 516 thousand 

(2007: nil). no sArs had vested at december 31, 2008 (2007: nil).

the following table illustrates the number (no.) and exercise prices (eP) of, and movements in, equity 

options during the year: 

                   deceMBer 31, 2008                           deceMBer 31, 2007

  no. EP, Us dollar  no. EP, Us dollar 

             

Outstanding at the beginning of period – – – –

granted  2,500,000 10 – –

exercised – – – –

Outstanding at the end of period 2,500,000 10 – –

Exercisable at the end of period – – – –
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the following table lists the inputs to the models used for the plan for the year ended december 31, 

2008:

dividend yield (%)  0

expected volatility (%)  87%

risk -free interest rate (%)  3.2

expected life (years)  7.2

Option turnover (%)  10

Price trigger 2

the expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 

patterns that may occur. the expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is 

indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

 

21. RELaTEd PaRTY TRaNSaCTIONS
for the purpose of these financial statements transactions with related parties mainly comprise trans-

actions between the group and the participants and/or their subsidiaries or associated companies.

Balances with related parties at the balance sheet dates and transactions with related parties for the 

respective years follow.

Accounts receivable from related parties at december 31 consisted of the following: 

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  
Trade receivables and advances  

Probel capital Management B.v. 1,620 –

Total 1,620 –

Accounts payable to related parties as at december 31 consisted of the following: 

in thousands of us dollars

in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007

  

Trade payables  

Amersham Oil LLP 108 81

Probel capital Management B.v. 163 190

Total 271 271

during the year ended 31 december 2008 the group had the following transactions with related parties:

in thousands of us dollars 
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in thousands of us dollars 2008 2007 

 

Management fees and consulting services  

Amersham Oil LLP 1,245 965

Probel capital Management B.v. 5,987 4,121

Total 7,232 5,086

Management fees are payable in accordance with the technical Assistance Agreements signed between 

the Partnership, Amersham Oil LLP and Probel capital Management Bv relate to the rendering of geolo-

gical, geophysical, drilling, scientific, technical and other consultancy services.

Annual remuneration of four key managers amounted to us$ 238 thousand for 2008 (2007: four, us$ 

199 thousand).  Other key management personnel were employed and paid by Amersham Oil LLP, frans 

van der schoot B.v. and Probel capital Management and whose remuneration forms part of manage-

ment fees and consulting services above.

All related parties are companies indirectly controlled by frank Monstrey.

22. CONTINGENT, COMMITMENTS aNd OPERaTING RISKS

Operating environment
kazakhstan continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks 

as required by a market economy. the future stability of the kazakhstan economy is largely dependent 

upon these reforms and developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary mea-

sures undertaken by the government.

the kazakhstan economy is vulnerable to market downturns and economic slowdowns elsewhere in the 

world. the ongoing global financial crisis has resulted in capital markets and commodity price instabi-

lity, significant deterioration of liquidity in the banking sector and tighter credit conditions within ka-

zakhstan. consequently, the kazakhstan government has introduced a range of stabilization measures 

aimed at providing liquidity and supporting finance for kazakhstan banks and companies.

While management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Part-

nership’s business in the current circumstances, unexpected further deterioration in the areas described 

above could negatively affect the Partnership’s results and financial position in a manner not currently 

determinable.

Legal actions
in the ordinary course of business, the Partnership is subject to legal actions and complaints. Manage-

ment believes that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a 

material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future operations of the Partnership.

the Partnership assesses the likelihood of material liabilities arising from individual circumstances and 

makes provision in its consolidated financial information only where it is probable that actual events 

giving rise to a liability will occur and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. no 

provision has been made in these consolidated financial information for any of the contingent liabilities 

mentioned above.
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Taxation
kazakhstan’s tax legislation and regulations are subject to ongoing changes and varying interpreta-

tions. instances of inconsistent opinions between local, regional and national tax authorities are not 

unusual. the current regime of penalties and interest related to reported and discovered violations of 

kazakhstan’s tax laws are severe. Penalties are generally 50% of the taxes additionally assessed and 

interest is assessed at the refinancing rate established by the national Bank of kazakhstan multiplied 

by 2.5. As a result, penalties and interest can amount to multiples of any assessed taxes. fiscal periods 

remain open to review by tax authorities for five calendar years preceding the year of review. under 

certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods. Because of the uncertainties associated with 

kazakhstan’s tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, penalties and interest, if any, may be in excess 

of the amount expensed to date and accrued at december 31, 2008. As at december 31, 2008 manage-

ment believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that it is probable that 

the Partnership’s tax positions will be sustained. 

abandonment and site restoration (decommissioning)
As kazakh laws and regulations concerning site restoration and cleanup evolve, the Partnership may 

incur future costs, the amount of which is currently indeterminable. such costs, when known, will be 

provided for as new information, legislation and estimates evolve. 

Environmental obligations
the Partnership may also be subject to loss contingencies relating to regional environmental claims 

that may arise from the past operations of the related fields in which it operates. As kazakh laws and 

regulations evolve concerning environmental assessments and site restoration, the Partnership may 

incur future costs, the amount of which is currently indeterminable due to such factors as the ultimate 

determination of responsible parties associated with these costs and the government’s assessment of 

respective parties’ ability to pay for the costs related to environmental reclamation. However, depen-

ding on any unfavorable claims or penalties assessed by the kazakh regulatory agencies, it is possible 

that the Partnership’s future results of operations or cash flow could be materially affected in a particu-

lar period.

Capital commitments
As at december 31, 2008 the Partnership had contractual capital commitments in amount of us$ 

247,237 thousand (2007: us$ 186,148 thousand).

Operating leases 
the Partnership entered into a cancellable lease agreement for the main administrative office in uralsk 

in October 2007 for a period of 20 years for us$ 15 thousand per month.

social and education commitments

As required by the contract with the government, the Partnership is obliged to spend: (i) us$ 300 

thousand per annum to finance social infrastructure and (ii) one percent from the capital expenditures 

incurred during the year for education purposes of the citizens of kazakhstan on an annual basis until 

the end of the contract. 
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23. FINaNCIaL RISK MaNaGEMENT ObJECTIVES aNd POLICIES
the Partnership’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans, payables to government of ka-

zakhstan, trade payables and other current liabilities. the main purpose of these financial liabilities is 

to finance the development of the chinarevskoye oil and gas condensate field and its operations. the 

Partnership’s financial assets consist of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents.

the main risks arising from the Partnership’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign ex-

change risk, liquidity risk, commodity price risk and credit risk. the Partnership’s management reviews 

and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized below.

Interest Rate Risk
the group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Partner-

ship’s long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates.

the Partnership was not exposed to interest rate risk in 2007 as rates of interest on its borrowings were 

fixed for the whole term of such borrowings.

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with 

all other variables held constant, of the Partnership’s loss before tax through the impact on floating rate 

borrowings.

incrEasE / dEcrEasE intErEst ratE EffEct on Profit BEforE tax EffEct on Profit BEforE tax

 for thE yEar EndEd for thE yEar EndEd

in thousands of us dollars dEcEmBEr31, 2008 dEcEmBEr 31, 2007

+1.5% (4,921) –

-1.5% 4,921 –
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Foreign Currency Risk
As significant portion of the group’s operation is the kazakhstani tenge denominated, the group’s 

balance sheet can be affected significantly by movements in the us dollar / tenge exchange rates. the 

group mitigates the effect of its structural currency exposure by borrowing in us dollars and denomina-

ting sales in us dollars.

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the us dollar ex-

change rate, with all other variables held constant, of the group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the 

fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

   changE in  EffEct on Profit

  tEngE to Us$ BEforE tax

  ExchangE ratE 

2008  

US thousand dollar  +25% (65,715)
US thousand dollar  +40% (105,144)
  

2007  

us thousand dollar  + 5% (6,934)

us thousand dollar  - 5% 6,934

Liquidity risk

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet com-

mitments associated with its financial liabilities. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a 

financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

Liquidity requirements are monitored on a regular basis and management ensures that sufficient funds 

are available to meet any commitments as they arise.

the table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Partnership’s financial liabilities at december 

31, 2008 based on contractual undiscounted payments: 

yEar EndEd    lEss than 3 3-12  morE than   
dEcEmBEr 31, 2008 on dEmand months months 1-5 yEars 5 yEars total

borrowings 381,677 – − – − 381,677
Trade payables 60,028 − − − − 60,028
Other current liabilities 5,906 − − − − 5,906
due to Government 
of Kazakhstan – 258 773 4,124 17,784 22,939
 
 447,611 258 773 4,124 17,784 470,550
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yEar EndEd    lEss than 3 3-12  morE than   
dEcEmBEr 31, 2007 on dEmand months months 1-5 yEars 5 yEars total

Borrowings – 3,061 42,460 203,982 – 249,503

trade payables 30,431 – 5,309 – – 35,740

Other current liabilities 5,036 – – – – 5,036

due to government 

of kazakhstan – 1,288 774 4,124 18,814 25,000

 

 35,467 4,349 48,543 208,106 18,814 315,279

As discussed in note 9, the Partnership believes BnP Paribas will not call the outstanding balance of the 

loan of us$ 381,677 thousand during 2009 and is in the process of obtaining a waiver from BnP Paribas 

in this respect. 

Commodity Price Risk
the Partnership is exposed to the effect of fluctuations in price of crude oil, which is quoted in us dollar 

on the international markets. the Partnership prepares annual budgets and periodic forecasts including 

sensitivity analyses in respect of various levels of crude oil prices in the future.

Other than the hedge arrangement described in note 19 the Partnership does not hedge its exposure to 

the risk of fluctuations in the price of crude oil. As at december 31, 2008 a us$ 1 per barrel movement in 

the price of oil had a us$ 2 million impact on the fair value of the hedge contract.

Credit Risk 
financial instruments, which potentially subject the Partnership to credit risk, consist primarily of ac-

counts receivable and cash in banks. the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 

amount of each financial asset. the Partnership considers that its maximum exposure is reflected by the 

amount of trade accounts receivable and advances. 

the Partnership places its cash with Bank turan Alem, which has a credit rating of BB (negative) and BnP 

Paribas with a relative credit rating of AA (negative) on long-term us dollar deposits from standard and 

Poor’s rating agency for the year ended december 31, 2008. the Partnership does not guarantee obliga-

tions of other parties.

the Partnership sells oil and makes advance payments only to recognized, creditworthy third parties. in 

addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Partnership’s 

exposure to bad debts and recoverability of prepayments made is not significant and thus risk of credit 

default is low.

Fair values of financial instruments
fair value is defined as the amount at which an instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 

between knowledgeable willing parties according to arm’s length conditions, other than in a forced 

or liquidation sale. As no readily available market exists for a large part of the Partnership’s financial 

instruments, judgment is needed to arrive at a fair value, based on current economic conditions and the 
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specific risks attributable to the instrument.

Management believes that the Partnership’s carrying value of financial assets and liabilities consisting 

of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and advances, trade and other payables and 

obligations under debt instruments are not significantly different from their fair values at december 31, 

2008 and 2007.

24. SUbSEQUENT EVENTS
On february 4, 2009 the kazakhstan tenge (“kZt”) devalued against us$ and other major currencies. 

the exchange rate before and after devaluation were 120 kZt/us$ and 150 kZt/us$, respectively.

On March 20, 2009 the Partnership has concluded an amendment to its export oil sales hedging contract 

with BnP Paribas, under which the minimum Brent crude oil price was set at us$50 per bbl for at least 

25% of the initial production profile for the ne and W tournasian horizons for the period from March 

2009 through to June 2010. the amendment to the contract has resulted in a cash payment of us$ 

40,500 thousand being made to the Partnership.
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Glossary of Terms

The following are the main terms and abbreviations 

used in this announcement:

$ United States dollars

2D/3D two dimensional/three dimensional

1P proven

2P proven plus probable

3P proven plus probable plus possible

Board the board of directors of Zhaikmunai Limited,  

 the general partner of the Partnership

boe barrels of oil equivalent

boepd barrels of oil equivalent per day

bopd  barrels of oil per day

bscf  billion standard cubic feet of gas

EOR  enhanced oil recovery

EPC  engineering procurement contract

FCA free carrier (incoterm)

FDP  field development plan

FIELD  Chinarevskoye oil and gas condensate field

Group the Partnership and its subsidiaries

GTU Gas Treatment Unit

IAS  International Accounting Standard

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards

IPO initial public offering

KSS  KazStroyService

KZT Kazakhstan Tenge

Licence licence issued by the Government of the Republic 

 of Kazahstan on 26 May 1997

MEMR ministry of energy and mines

mbbls million barrels of oil

mboe million barrels of oil equivalent

mscfd million standard cubic feet of gas per day

OTU Oil Treatment Unit

Partnership  Zhaikmunai L.P.

Prospectus Zhaikmunai L.P. Prospectus of 28 March 2008

PSA  production sharing agreement

UNGG AO Uralskneftegazgeologia

Credits

coordination

Sarah Reyn

design

Beeld.Inzicht, www.beeldinzicht.be

photography

Jan Caudron, www.anaklasis.com

Printed in Belgium by Cassochrome. 

disclaimer

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements regar-

ding Zhaikmunai, its corporate plans, future financial condition, 

future results of operations, future business plans and strategies. 

All such forward-looking statements are based on its manage-

ment’s assumptions and beliefs in the light of information 

available to them at this time. These forward-looking statements 

are, by their nature, subject to significant risks and uncertain-

ties and actual results, performance and achievements may be 

materially different from those expressed in such statements. 

Factors that may cause actual results, performance or achieve-

ments to differ from expectations include, but are not limited 

to, regulatory changes, future levels of industry product supply, 

demand and pricing, weather and weather related impacts, wars 

and acts of terrorism, development and use of technology, acts of 

competitors and other changes to business conditions. Zhaikmu-

nai undertakes no obligation to revise any such forward-looking 

statements to reflect any changes in Zhaikmunai’s expectations 

with regard thereto or any change in circumstances or events 

after the date hereof.
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